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9 

IN THE UNITED STA TES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 

13 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

BAHAR GHARIB-DANESH, D.C., and 
14 PAIN FREE DIAGNOSTICS, INC., 

a California Corporation, 
15 dba Pain Free Management, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

DefeQdants. 

CASENO. 1:15-CR-00179-LJO 

VIOLATION: 18 U.S.C. § 1349-Conspiracyto 
Commit Health Care Fraud; 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347, 2(a) 
- Aiding and Abetting Health Care Fraud 

COUNT ONE: [18 U.S.C. § 1349-Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud] 
20 

The United States Attorney charges: 
21 

22 

23 

24 defendant herein, as follows: 

25 I. INTRODUCTION 

PAIN FREE DIAGNOSTICS, INC.; 
a California Corporation, 

· dba Pain Free Management, 

26 At all times relevant to this indictment: 

27 I. J.T. ("J.T.") was a clinical psychologist licensed to practice psychology by the California · 

28 Board of Psychology, with his principal place of business at 13900 Panay Way, #DS-35, Marina Del 

SUPERSEDING INFORMATION 
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I Ray, California 90292 . 

2 2. Mindwaves Psy9hological Services, Inc. ("Mindwaves") was a California professional 

3 corporation located at 4712 Admiralty Way, Suite 476, Marina Del Rey, California 90292: Mindwaves 

4 was owned and controlled by defendant J.T .. 

5 3. N.E. was a chiropnictoi" licensed to practice by the California Board of Chiropractic 

· 6 Examiners, with her principal place of business at 2920 F Street, #C5, Bakersfield, Ca.lifornia 93312. 

7 4. Pain. Free Diagno"stic was a California corporation doing business as Pain Free 

8 Management Company ("PAlN FREE MANAGEMENT"). PAlN FREE MANAGEMENT was located 

9 at 6944 Reseda Boulevard, Reseda, California 91335. PAlN FREE MANAGEMENT leased space at· 

10 clinics to J.T. and provided J.T. with management and billing services. 

II A. 

12 

Workers Compensation Insurance 

5. In California, an employer pays for ~edical care for a work-related injury or illness, 

13 either through a workers' compensation insurance policy, by being self-insured or through t~e State 

· · 14 Compe1rnation Insurance Fund ("SCff"). The SCIF was established in 1914, and is now the largest · 

15 provider of workers' compensation coverage in California. SCIF is a division of the California 

16 Department oflndustrial Relations ("DCIR") and is considered to be a California state agency. SCIF's 

17 mission is to provide an available market for workers' compensation insurance at.fair rates, and to serve 

18 as a model for all workers' compensation carriers. · 

19 6. Worker's compensation insurance was sold to employers to protect them from liability in 

20 the event of on-the~job injuries resulting in employee injury, disability or death and to provide monetary 

21 relief and medical benefits to injured workers. California workers' compensation law requires claims 

· 22 administrators to authorize and pay for medical care that is "reasonably required to cure or relieve" the 

23 effects of the injury. This means care that follows scientifically based medical treatment guidelines. 

24 7. Workers' compensation insurance policies are private plans and contracts, affecting 
. . \ 

25 commerce, under which medical benefits, items, and services are provided to an individual, and thus are 

. 26 "health care benefit plans" within the meaning of Title 18, United States Code, Section 24. 

27 8. The Medical Unit issues QME panels to injured workers and claims administrators. A 

28 QME panel is a randomly generated list of QME medical providers issu_ed when there is a dispute about 

SUPERSEDING INFORMATION 2 
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I whether an injury is work related, or ifthere is a medical issue that has not been resolved by the treating 

2 physician's report. 

3 9. In some circumstances, a primary treating physician may write a medical-legal report. 

4 However, no medical provider may write or bill for a medical-legal report unless ther.e has. been a 

5 dispute ~ith the defendant that would trigger a medical-legal examination. In such a cases, the medical-

6 provider writing the report must be selected from the randomly generated list of QME providers. A 

7 primary treating physician may write and bill fora medical-legal report only in response to a properly 

8 acquired medical-legal report after a dispute. 

9 10. Rej:)orts by treating or consulting physicians are subject to the Official Medical Fee 

l 0 Schedule adopted pursuant to California Labor Code Section 5307 .1. When a physician writes a 

11 medical-legal evaluation report, the physician is reimbursed pursuant to the higher Medical-Legal 

12 Expense fee schedule. ML 102 is the billing·code used for basic comprehensive medical-legal 

13 evaluations. ML l 03 is the billing code used for complex comprehensive medical-legal evaluations 

14 which include at least three complexity factors. · 

15 11. In order to receive payment from the insurer, a physician is required to submit a, health 

16 insurance claim fonn to the insurer, called a Form CMS-1500. The claims may be submitted in hard 

17 copy or electronically. A narrative report accompanies the medical bill, which becomes part of the 

18 complete bill. The CMS-1500 identified the patient; the referring physician; the insurance company; 

19 who, where and what services were provided to the patient; and the charges associated with those 

20 servic.es. The bills and reports are used by the insurance company to evaluate 'the proper reimburse~ent 

21 to the medical providers. 

22 II. The Conspiracy 

23 12. ·Beginning at a time unknown to the grand jury, but no later'than in or about August 2005 

24 and cm:itinuing through in or about November 2012, in Kern, Tulare and Fresno Counties in the State 

25 and Eastern District of California, and elsewhere, defendant PAIN FREE MANAGEMENT and others 

26 known and unknown, did unlawfully conspire, confederate and agree with each other to devise a scheme 

27 and artifice. to execute, and attempt to execute, a scheme and artifice to defraud a health care benefit 

28 program affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b ), that is worker's 
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1 compensation insurance, and to obtain, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, 

2 representations, and promises, money and property owned by, and under the custody .and control of 

-3 private insurers in connection with the delivery of and payment of health care benefits, items and 

4 services, in violation of Title 18, United States Code; Section 1347. 

Purpose of the Conspiracy 5 III. 

6 13. It was a purpose and object of the conspiracy for PAIN FREE MANAGEMENT and 

7 other co-conspirators known and unknown, to unlawfully enrich itself by, among other things: (a) 

8 submitting false and fraudulent claims to worker's compensation insurance providers for services that 

9 were medically unnecessary, that were not eligible for reimbursem~nt, and that were never provided; ch) 
10 concealing the submission of.false and fraudule?t claims to worker's comp~nsation insurance providers, 

11 the receipt and transfer of the proceeds from the fraud;·and (c) diverting proceeds of the fraud for the 

12 personal use and benefit of the defendants and their co-conspirators in the form of compensation and 

13 other remuneration. 

14 IV. Manner and Means of the Conspiracy 

15 The manner and means by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to accomplish 

16 the object and purpose of the conspiracy included, among others, the following: 

17 14. On or about September 1, 2009, PAIN FREE MANAGEMENT ente1:ed into a contract 

18 "(ith J. T. to lease space located at clinics and to operate J. T. 's clinical psychology practice to the extent 
I 

19 it was conducted on the premises, including maintenance of patient medical records, and billing and 

20 collection of professional fees. In return, J.T. agreed to pay PAIN FREE MANAGEMENT a 

21 "management fee" equal to fifty percent (50%) of all nioney actually received and derived directly or 

22 indirectly by reason of any medical or health care related services provided by J.T .. 

23 ] 5. J.T. would submit bills for services rendered to employees under his own name as well as 

24 through his corporation, Mindwaves Psychological Services, Inc., to PAIN FREE MANAGEMENT, 

25 which would then forward the bills to a third party billing agency for the purpose of both preparing 

26 CMS-1500 fonns and sending them to the appropriate insurers. J.T.'s authorized signature would then 

27 be affixed to the CMS-1500 by the third party billing agency and the J.T. would sign the narrative 

28 reports submitted with each CMS-1500. 

SUPERSEDING INPORMATION 4 



Case 1:15-cr-00179-LJO-SKO Document 63 Filed 07/05/18 Page 5 of 6 

16. J.T. routinely submitted bills and reports that were the same for each and every patient, 

2 including the time spent in examination and testing, and for the exact same dollar amount, regardless of 

3 the age, sex, geographic location of the patient, or t~e type and seriousness of the patient's injury. The 

4 narrative reports stated almost the same information word-for-word for every patient, other than 

5 identifying information such as the name, sex, and some detail.s about how the patient was injured. 

6 17. J.T. routinely billed using the code ML 103 for medical-legal evaluations, identifying 

7 himself in the narrative report as a QME. He would also state in his.narrative report thathe was 

8 requested to conduct a medical-legal evaluation by the patient or by the primary treating physician, 

9 EOII. This allowed him to bill using the higher Medical-Legal Expense fee schedule. These bills were 

10 all false and fraudulent because J.T. had not been appointed a QME to perform medical-legal 

11 evaluations for these patients nor was there a documented dispute between the ~mployer and.the injured 

12 worker. In addition, J.T. submitted bills where lie claimed he acted as a QME during a period of time 

13 when he had allowed his QME certification to lapse. 

14 18. When submitting bills to inslirers, J.T. would claim to see up to a dozen patients per day. 

15 For each patient, J.T. 's bill would submit that he provided each patient with approximately 20.8 hours of 

16 psychological evaluations in a single day. On one day, J.T. billed a total of291.2 hoursfor treating· 

17 fourteen patients. In one period of two weeks, J.T. billed approximately 1,123.2 hours treating patients 

18 and writing report~. 

19 19. Between on or about August 2005 and on or about November 2012, J.T. submitted claims 

20 for psychological services in worker's compensation cases totaling in excess of$5.6 million. 

21 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349. 

22 COUNT TWO: [18 U.S.C. §§ 347, 2(a) -Aiding and Abetting Health Care Fraud] 

23 The United States Attorney charges: 

24 BAHAR GHARIB-DANESH, D.C., 

25 defendant herein, as follows: 

26 20. Paragraphs 1 through 13 of Count One of this Indictment,. are re-alleged and incorporated 

27 by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

28 21. Defendant BAHAR GHARIB-DANESH D.C., ("GHARIB-DANESH") was a 

SUPERSEDING INFORMATION 5 
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chiropractor licensed to practice by the California Board of Chiropractic Examiners, with h~r principal 

2 place of business at 6944 Reseda Boule;rard, Reseda, California 913 3 5. 

3 22. Defendant GHARIB-DANESH directed her medical staff in how to prepare bills. to be 

4 submitted by N.E .. 

5 23. N.E. submitted claims totaling approximately $5,686.89 to private insurance companies 

6 and the SCIF for services rendered by her between Febmary 2012 and January 2014 for writing medical-

7 legal reports, fraudulently using billing codes ML 102 and ML103. These cl~ims were false and 

8 fraudulent because they concerned reports written by her under circumstances when her writing a 

9 medical-legal report and her billing for it were not authorized by California law. 

10 24. On or about June 6, 2014, in Kern County, State and Eastern District of California, and 

11 elsewhere, defendant GHARIB-DANESH, in connection with the delivery of and payment for health 

12 care benefits, items, and services, did knowingly and willfully aid and abei the execution, and attempt to 

13 execute, a scheme and artifice to defraud a health care benefit program affecting commerce, as defined 

14 in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b), that is work~t"'s compensation insurance, and obtain, by 

15 means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, money and property 

16 owned by, and under the custody and control of the SCIF, in connection with the delivery of and 

17 payment ofhealth care benefits, items and services, to wit GHAi;:tB-DANESH aided and abetted'N.E. 

18 submitting a bill to SCIF for beneficiary L-M.C.-V. for services allegedly rendered on or about 

19 November 8, 2013, in the amount of $849. 73, using billing code ML .I 02. 

20 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347 and 2(a). 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated: M ~ 2---() llS' 
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McGREGOR W. SCOTI 
UnitedSt11tes Attorney 

2 MARKJ. McKEON 
Assistant United States Attorney 

3 2SOQ Tulare Street, Sulte 4401 
Fresno, CA 93721 

4 Telephone: (559) 4974000 
Faesin1ile: {~.~9)497-4099 

.$ 

6 Attomeys fqr l'lalutiff 
United S!Jites of.Amcriea 

7 

8 

9 

JO 

lNTHEUNITEDSTATESDISTRICTCOURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

.11 t.:rNITED S'fATBS. OF AMERICA, CASE NO. l:l5-cr·OOJ79-LJO 

PLEA AGREEMENT 12 Plaintiff, 

13 BAHAR OHAR!B.·DANESH, D.C., DATE: 
'f!ly!E: 

TOBE SET 
TOBE SET 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1.8 

Defendant. COURT: HON. LAWRENCE J. o'NBJJ.,L 

Pursuant to Rute ll(oJ of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, the United $1Jites of America, 

by and through McGregor W. Scott, the United States Attorney for the Eastern Distril)tpf califqr11ia, 

andAssist11t1tUnited States Attorney Mark J. McKeon; and Defenda.nt DAHAR·OHARIB-DANESH, 
19 

D.C. (hereinafter "defendant" or ''OHARJB•DANESH''), and Richard Ala11MQss and Daniel A. Biieon, 
.ZO 

21 

22 

23 

24 

atterneys .for defendant GHARlB·DANESH, have agreed .as follows. 

I. 

A. 8cope of Ag[l\!!j!l1ent. 

TheSupetseding. tnforrnation In this oasl} charges the defendant GHARlB-DAJ\TESH wi.th a 

violation ofl 8 U.S.C. §§ l 347, 2(a:) - Aidrnjl: and Abetting Health C!lfe FraniL This document cp1Jtains 
25 

the complete plea asreement between thi.l Onlred S!Jites Attorney' ,s Office for the E!i1$tem District <!f 
26 

California {the "government") and the d11fendant regardinjl: this cas~. This plea agreement is limited t() 
27 

the.United States Attorney's ()l'ffoefor the Eastern Dlstrlct of California and cannot.bind 111zy other 
Z8 

PLEA AOREBMBNT-OHARIB·DANESH 
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federal, st:ate, or loci:il proseo\1ting, administi;ative, ()1' regulatmy authorities. 

B. C911rt Not a Pgrfy. 

3 The Court is not a party to this plea agreement. Sentencing is a matter $Olety within the 

4 disc.retion of the Court, and the Court maytake into oonslderation any and all facts and 11jrcumstanoe& 

S coneemingthecriminal aotivities of defendant, includingactivitieswhich may nothavebeen charged in 

6 theSupers11ding Informatinn. The Col.lrtisunder no obligatiQn to accept any recommendatk1m.1 made by 

7 thegovemment, and the Courtmay in its di$cietion impose any ~entence it deems appropda~ up to.and 

8 including thtHtatutozy maximum stated in this pfea.agrooment. 

9 lfthe C•:mrt should impose any sentenee up to thetnlP'imum ec>tablished by the statute, j11e 

Io defendant cannot, for that reason alone, withdraw her g\lllty plea, she will remain hound to fulfill all of 

l l the obH!,!ations under this plea a11reement. The defendant understands that.neither the prosi::cutor, 

12 defense counse.l, nor the Court can make a bioding prediction or promise regard in!! the sentence.she wilt 

13 receive. 

14 

15 A. Guilfy Pleas, 

II. DEFENQAl':!T'S QBLIGATIONS 

16 Defendant GHARlB·DANESH wlllµlead $Uiltyto Count Two of the Superseding foformatlon, 

17 A.idlllgcand Abetti.ng Health Care Fraud, in violation Ofl!I U.S.C. *§ 1347, and. 2(a). The defendant 

J 3 agrees that she.ifdn fact guilty of this charge Md that the.facts set forth in the Factual Basis for Plea 

19 attaclled hereto. as AppendixesA and g are aeclll'.ate. 

20 The defenda;nt·agrees tltatthls plea. agtooment w.lll.be flied with.the Court and become11 part of 

21 the record of the case. Tbe defendant·understands !Ui.dagrees that she will not be allowed to witlldraw 

22 her plea .should the Court not follow the gove:rnrnent'·s sentencing recommendations. 

23 The defemlanta{,irees that the statemcots mllde by her in signing this Agn:ement, including the 

24 faJ;tual .admissions set forth in the factual basis, shall be admiss.ible and useab!e .ag\linst the.defendant by 

25 the United States in any sub~equent criminal or e!Vil prnooedings, even if the defendant falls to enter a 

26 guiltypfoa pur5uant to this Agreement The defendant waivei> any rig)its under Fed. R. Cl'im. P. II (i') 

21 and Fed. R. Ev id. 4I O, 10 the extent ihatthese. t'ules are inconsistent with this paragraph or with this 

28 AgreementgeneraUy. 

2. l'LBAAGREBMBNT-GHARIB-DANBSH 
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1. Waiver ofiridietntent: 

The defondarit acknowledges that under the United States Constitution she Is en tided to be. 

3 indicted by a gr1md jury on the ohargescto which she is pleading guilty and that pursuant to 

4 Fed.R.Crim.P. 7(b) she agrees to waive any and all rightll she has to being prosecuted by way of 

5 indicttnentro the charges set forth in the infutmation. The defendant asrees that ata time set by the 

(i Court, she will sign a written waiver of proseeµtion by lndictmentand conse11t to proceed by 

7 Information rather than by lndict:menh 

8 2. Package Agreeltlent: 

9 The defendant ac)illowledges .and. understands thatthe plea offer made to her htire by the 

10 government is a "paekllge offer." That fo, $edefendant.understandsthat the offeonade to Iler is 

l l condltionedon PAl"N FREE J:)IAGN0$TICS.,JNC,, a Califotnia Corporation, dba Pain Free 

l~ Management (hereinafter, ''.PPM"), pleacling guilty accqrdlng to the tetms .ofits Plea Agrtiement. The'. 

13 defendant unde.rstands that if PPM declines, refuses or fails to ple11d !llJ.ilty according to its respective 

14 offer, then, atth11 optiqn ofthe government, shewtll not be allowed to entor !1 plea ofgtlilty to Uie offer 

l S made by the government. Additionally, if PFM fails or refuses to enter its plea according to its 

16 respective offer and defendant GF!ARIB·DANESH already entered her plea,. or if PFM fails to pay the 

17 stlpulated restitution set ouHn its plea agreem~t prior to defl!lndru.lt GHARIB·DANJ:?,SH's selledµJed 

l & 11ppe,arancefor sentencing, then :thi$ plea agreement ls voidable unlw. option ofthe gllvernment. In its 

I 9 sole di!!:cretion, the government has the abilitytQ withdraw from the plea agreement and pltrsue the 

20 odginal chargea. HoweVl)r, the defendant's waiver ofher rights vnder Rule l l(t) anc[ Fed. R. Bvl,d. 4 lP, 

21 as set forth in.Section II.A herein, will not operate. 

22 RecogniZing that this is a pack~ge offer, defendant OHARfS·DANBSH c1mflnns th&tshe has not 

23 been threatened, presl!Ured, or coerciid by any other person, to enter into this plea agr1,1ernent, The 

24 defiindailt also confirms tllatsJ:ie ent@r!!: into this plea agreement voluntarily because l!he b in fq()t gµJlty 

25 of the offense to whieh she ii!: pleac[ing gul!ty. 

26 B. Rutitntfon. 

27 The victi1111>ofthe fraudule11t claims charged in Cou11t Two of the Superseding lnfol'rrultion are 

28 identified in Appendix "B" hereto .. These c!alms were not paid by the illsurllllc.e companies, qnd 

PLEA AGRBEMENT-GHARIB,DANESH 3 
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l therefore'there ls no restitution owing by defendant GHARIB-DANESH. 

2 

c. 

4 'fh!ilpartles agree that no fine is appropriate fa this case. 

5 D. Spes!a!Msessment. 

~ Def'ent:\l!nt GHARlB·DANESH agrees to pay a special assessnwnt of $11)0 at the time of 

7 sentencing by delivering a check onnoney order payable to t)ieJinlted States Dlstriet CQ\IJt to the 

8 l/nited States Probation Office immecli11tely before the sentencing he(lring. The defendant 1.mderstands 

9 that,this plea agreement i~ v9idablaat the option of.the government if.she fails to pay the asscissment 

I 0 pri()r to. th~t hearing. 

II E. ,Yfolaiion Qf l'!ea M:reement by D!l{endanttW!tbdrawal of Plea. 

12 Ifa defendant,. co9peratingor nol,, violat;i.~ thlsplea agreement in any way, withdrawshel' plea, 

13 or tries to withdraw her plea, this plea agreement l$ voi<la!Jle at the optkm of the government. lfth!' 

14 government ele.cts not'to void the 11greementba&ed on the defendant'~ viola_tion, the govermnent will nQ 

15 kmger'bebound by its representations to tht:> defendant coneernin!! the limits on criminal prosecutlon 

16 l!lld sente11elng as set furth herein. A defendant violates1he plea agreement by committing anycdme or 

I 7 providing or procuring MY stlllement or testimony which is knowingly false, misleading:, or rnatei:ially 

l 8 incomplete. in ®Y litigation or s<:mteneing pro®$s in this case, or engages lnany post-plCll conduqt 

19 constituting obstrllctlon of justke. Vary.ing from.stipulated Ouidel.ines'appJipation or agreemwl(! 

20 regarding arg11ments .m; to 18 United States Code secti()n. 3553, as set forth in this agreement, peroonally 

21 Pr through ooui:1sel, als.o constitutes a vlo.latiun pftbe pllla aweemen.t. The government a]$0 shall have 

22 the rlgllt {I) to prosecute the defendant on any ofthe. counts to which .she pleaded guilty; (2) to relnstate 

23 any counts that may be dism.issed pursuant to this. plea agreement; and. (3) to file any new charges that 

24 would otherwise be barre,d by this plea agreement. The dd'em:lant .Shall thereafter be subject to 

25 prosecution !branyfedera! ci:iminal violation ofwhlch the,government has knowledge. The. dedsion,to 

26 pur$lleJ1ny or.all of these option$ is solely in thedlseretlon ofthe tJnitllli States Attorney's Office. 

27 By signing this plea agreement, the defendant'llgrees to waive any objections, motions, and 

'.Ml dllf"tnses that the dpfendant might have to tho government's decision. Any prosecuti0,ns that are not 

PLEA AGREEMENT -GHARIB-DANBSH 4 
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time-barred by the applicable statut1l'<;if!imitations as of the date ofthis pl'e'aagreement may be 

2 commenced In accordance with this paragraph, notwithstanding the expiration qfthe statute of 

3 limitations between the signing of this plea agreement and the commencement of any such prosecutions. 

4 The defendant agrees notto raise any objections based on the passage of time with respect to such 

S counta including, but not limited to, a1iy statutes oflimitafam qrany objections ba$ed on the S~Y 

6 Tdal Act or the Speedy Trial Cl~11se, of the Slxtl1 Amendment to any counts that were not ;time-b11rred tl~. 

7 of the date of this plea 11greement. The de;terminatlo,n of whether the defend1111t ha.s violated the plea 

8 agreementwill be under a PtP.bable Olll!se standard. 

9 In addiliqn, (t) all stiitem<:nts lll!lde. by the defendant to the gqvernment or pther dtlsi&11atedJaw 

IO enforcement agents, or a11ytestimo11y given by the; defendant belbre a grand Jury or other tribunal, 

11 whether before or after this plea.agreement, .. shall be admissible in ev l.dencein any criminal, eivil, or 

12 administrative proceedin~ hereafter brought againstthe defendant; and (2) the defendant shat) as~ert no 

13 clahn under the United.States Constitution, any statute, Rule I l{t') of the .Fedenil Rules of Criminal 

14 Procedure, Rule 410 oi'the.Federal Rules of Evidence, or any other federal rule, that statements made by 

15 the defendant before or after this plea agreement, or any leads derived therefrom, should be suppressed. 

16 .By signing this plea agreement, the defendant waives any ",ndaU rtghts in the foregoing respeets. 

17 F. Agreement to Coopgrate. 

l 8 Defendant GHARl.B-DANESH agrees'to cooperate fully with the goverrurn:nt and any J;)ther 

19 federal, statjl, or local Jaw enforcement age,ncy, as directed by the government. As used in this plea 

20 agreement, "cooperation'' requires the defendant: (I) m respond truthfully and completely to all 

21 questions, whether in interviews, in correspondence, telephone conversations, before a.grand jury, ol"at 

22 anytrlal or other court proceeding; (2) to attend,all meeti1igs, grand jnzy sessions, trials, and otber 

23 proceedings at which the.defendant's presence ls requested by thegovemment or compelled by 

24 subpoena or court order; (3) to produce voluntarily any and all documenta, 111eords, or other tangibl<i 

25 evidence requested by the government; (4) notto participate in any criminal activity while cooperating 

26 with the government; and (5) to .disclose to the government the existenqe and status of all money, 

27 ptoperty, Pr assets, ofa,ny kind, derived from or acquired as a result ot: or used to facilitate the 

28 commisslo.n of, the defendanes ilkgal actlvlti.es or the Hlegal activities of any conspirators. 

PLEAAOREEMENT-OHARlB·DANESH 5 
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UI. THEQOYERNMENT'S OBLiijiA1;IONS 

A. Dismissals/Other Charges. 

3 The government agrees to move, at the time of sentencing, to dismiss without prejudice the 

4 original indictment,a$to defendantGHARlB-DANESH only. The govel'lltl1entalso agrees not to 

5 reinstate any dismissed eonnt except if this agreement is voided as set forth herein, or as provided in 

6 p11ragraphs 11.E (Violation of Plea Agreement by Def1.1ndanf/Withdrawal of Plea), ULB.3(Reduction of 

7 Scnttioce for CooJXm!tiou), Vl.B (B~timl!ted Guideline Calculatil)n}, and VII.B {Waiver of Appeal and 

S CollateralAttl!Ck). he~n, 

9 B. B!lAAmmcndatfons. 

1 ~ 1. lnoorcer11tion Range. 

J l If defendant GHARIB·DANESH abides by all 9t her terms of pr<:-trfal release alld Is not plaeed 

12 in custody pre-trial or pre.•sentencilll! 11$ ll .r<:sult ofacy violatl(1n ofber release conditions, then the 

13 government agre()s to ~ommendthllt it'the defendant's.guideline rang~ after all lldjustments, fl!lls 

14 within: 

15 

16 

11 

13 

!9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 
25 

26 

27 

2.8 

i. 

ii. 

ilL 

iv. 

Z9ne A of the Sentencing Table, .the government wi!J recommend tbatthe defendant be 

sentenced to th.rec (J) years ofproblttion; 

Zone B oftho:r Sentencing Table, then thegov<Jlrnment wlll recomm!:nd that tlw d!i!fll'nd!lnt 

be senteneed to, thr~ (~} year$ of pt'Ob~pn with a 1;ondltion 9f problltion that the 

defendant serveth!lminimum term 9fthe guide,line range in home <leMmti9n,·l:9 be pafol 

by the defondant; 

Zone C 9f the Sentencing 'fable, then the governmellt will recommend that }he defi:ndant 

be senten¢ed to imprisonment for half ofdefendant's minimum term wilh a term of 

supervised releasewhieh in¢ludes the remainder of!he minimum term served in home 

detention, to be paid by the defendant; or 

Zone D 9f the Senten¢l11g Table, the government will recorrunendthat the defendant be 

sentenced to imprispnment at the low end ofthe applicable guideline range, 

2. Acceptance of ResponslbUity. 

The governmentwill rec9mmend a two·levet reduction (if the offense level is less than 16) or a 

PLEA AGREEMENT - GHARJB-DANESH 6 
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l three-level reduction (lfthe offense level reaches 16) in the computation of her offense level if the 

2 defendant clearly demonstrates acceptance ofrespons ibility for her conduct 1IS defined in U. S.S. G. 

3 § 3El. I. This: lnoludes tlie defendant meeting with and assisting the probation officer in the pre11aration 

4 of the pre-sentence report, being truthfuland ccmdid with the probation officer, lllid not otherwise 

5 engaging in e.onduct !hat constitutes ob.stm1:tion of justice within tb() meaning oflJ.S;S .• O § 3CJ .. 1, either 

.6 in the preparation of the pre~s.enten~ report or durlng the s.entencing,proceeding. 

7 Reduction ofSen!:ellce fur Coopcrmion. 

8 The govemment agrees to recommend at the timi:: of sentenging that. the defend!!nt GHARIB- · 

9 OANF,$H's sentence pf lmprlsonment be reduped by up to .. 'JO% of the applicable guideline sentence if 

I 0 $he providl:ls substantial aSS,ist.an~ IO tbegov<imment, pursuant tQ U,,$.$,G .. § SK 1.1. The gefend1111t 

l1 und~stands that she must comply with paragraphs llF and nQt violnte.thl$. plea 11greeme11tas set forfh in 

l2 paragraph Il.E h11rein. Tbe.4.efendant understands that it ls. within ~hesqle 11nd exch.1sive d.lscr(llion of 

!;! the governmenttQ determine whether the dltfe11d1mt has proyideg sqbstantial assistance. 

14 The defendant unders.tl!nds that the government may recommend a reduction in hi!r seott:)nce of 

15 leas than 50% or no reduction at all; .depending upon tbe level of assistance the government determines 

16 thatthe defenda11t has provldecl. 

11 The defendant.further understands tl!atamotion pursuantto u.s;s.G. § SKLl i~ only II 

18 recomn1endatlon and is not bin.ding on the Court, thatthis plea agreeme:rit confers no right upon the 

19 defendant to require thatthe govetnmentmake a§ 5Kl. Lmotlp:n, and that this plea agreement eonfers 

20 no remedy upon the defendant in the event that the government dee Hoes to mall;e a §SKl.1 motio11. ln 

21 particular, the defendant agrees not totry tcy .!lie a motion IQ withdraw her guilty plea baset;l 011 ibe fact 

2.2 thatthe $Ovetnment decides nottore.commend a.sentenee.re1duetion Qtrecommeni;ls 11 sentence · 

23 reduction less than the defendantthinks is a.pproprlate. 

24 If the filOVel'nmentdetermines that the defendant has provided fvrthercoQperation within one 

25 year following sentencing, the government may move for a .. further reduction of her sentence pursuant to 

26 Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of'Crlminar JlrOl)ed.ur~. 

27 C. pse gtlnformation for Sentencing. 

1g The government .is free !er provide full and accurate informntion to the Court .1mll Probation, 

PLEAAOREEMENT-'OHARIB·DANESH 7 
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including answering any inquiries made by the Court and/or Probation and rebutting :anyh1aoct1l'ate 

2 ~tatements 01· arguments by the defendant, her attorney, Probation, or the Court. The defellda11talso 

3 understands and agrees that nothing in this Plea Agree1nent bru·s the government. from defending on 

4 appelll or collateral review My sentence that the Court.may impose . 

. 5 Further, other than®. set forth above, the g0vemmentagrees that any itwriminatinl! information 

6 provided. by def~ndant OHAIUB-DANESH during her cooperntl1m will not be use.cl in detel't1J ini.ng the 

7 appli()llble gllideline range, pursqantto l,J.S.S.G . .§ .IB l .8, unless.the i.nformatiqn is u~edto respqn\i to 

8 tepresentations ma!Je to the Court by the defendant, or on he~ behaJf, that contradi()t infQtmation 

9 pn>Vided \ly the defendant dµring her cooperation. 

IQ IV; ELEMENTS OF THEQUENSE 

11 At a trial, the government W01.1ld have to prQve b<:YoJld a re"89nahle <loubtthe f\)Uqwi11g 

12 elements oftheoffi:nse tQ whi!fh the dcfendant ls pleading guilty, 

13 18 U.S.C. § 1347 - Health Care fraud 

14 Th() Element<iofthe crime of Health Care Fraud are: 

15 

Hi 

11 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

First: The defendant knowl11gly devised or participated in a scheme to defraud . 
California workers' co.n1pensatlon fund and/or private workers' c.ompensation 
insur~·s,or to obtain, by means qf false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or 
promis~s, any of the money-OT property owned by, or under the .custody o.r control 
.ef Callfoiniaworkers' compensation fun!J and/or private inswers;in connwtkm 
with the dc:>livery; qf or payment for health carQ .benefits, lte111s, .or s.erviees; 

The statements.made or facts 11mitted a~ part oftne schemewere material; thl\t is; 
they had anatur<tJ.tendeney to influence, qr were eapitbl\1 qf lnf111e11<;ing, a perswi 
to part with money or prcperty; 

Third, The defendant acted willfully and wllh th.e i11t<1ntto defraud; and 

California workers' compensation was a public plan or contract, affecting 
eommerce, under whioh medical benefits, items,.orserviqes WCl>t'eprovld;ld to 11ny 
individual. 

24 18 U.S.C, § 2(a)-AiQIDg Md Abettiug 

25 A defendant may be f1Ju11d guilty of health care frail cl, even if the defendant pers0,nally d!cj not 

26 oommitthe act or acts vonstitutingthll crim(} butaid\lll, and abetted In it~ commission, To prove a 

27 defendant guilty ofhealth .::are fraud by aiding 1111d abetting, the government must prove each of the> 

28 following beyond a reasonable doubt: 

PLEA AGREEMENT -GHARIB·.DANESH 8 
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First. 

Second, 

Third, 

Fourth, 

health Olll'e fi'au<I was committe~ by someone; 

the. defendailt aided, counseled, commanded, induced or procured that person with 
respect to at least one elemet'lt of health care fraud; . 

the defendant ai;ted \vitb. the intent to facilitate health. care fraud; and 

the defendant acted before the crime WllS completed. 

6 The defendant fully understands the nature·and elements of the cdmech~rged in the S\lper$edinll 

7 lnfurm~tion to which she is pleading guilty, together with the pos$ible def ens~ tilereto,. and have 

~ disc11l!lled .them with her at:tomey. 

9 

lO A. 

v. 
M11xlmum Penalty. 

l l Defendant OHARIB-OA'NESH µuderslaf!ds tti<tt the mai<imum sentence that the.Ci;iurt Cllll 

IZ' impo.se is ten years ofin.carce:ration,,11.f'me 9f$250,00(), a three-year petiod of supervised release and a 

13 special ~sessment of $1 Q.6. Ifdefendant C!HA.RJBcDANESH isefiglble fq;prqbation, the maidmum 

14 term of probation that the eo.urt eould lmposels five yeal'S,. Sy .sillJling this plea agreeme11t, the 

15 defendant also agrees that the Court can order !he payment of restltutlon for the foll loss ooused b.ythe 

l 6 defendant's wronsl'ul conduct. The defendant agrees that the restitution order is not. restricted to the 

17 amounts alleged in the specific wuutto which sheis pleading guilty. The defeudilnt further asrees, ~ 

18 noted above, that she wm not attempt to dise.har.gein any present o.l' future bankruptcy pr.opeeding any 

19 restitution imposed .by the. Court. 

B. Yl11hrtiuns of S1meryi§!ld Relll11se or ftobat!on, 

21 Def11udantGHARlB~DANESH unders.tands that if she viollltes a<;ondition .of sup~JJvised relea$e 

2!2 at anytime dudng the term ofsupervised release, the Court may revoke the term.of supervised relea:tle 

23 and require the defendant to serve up l:P two additional years imprisonment. Defendaut. GHAR.tB-

24 DANESH further understands that if she violates 11 conditkm.of probation 11t (lily time during 11 term of 

25 probatiou, the Court may revoke the sentenee ofproba,tion and resentence the defendant to any sentence 

;i(i that was .originally available for the defendant's crime. 

27 

28 

PLEA AGREEMENT -GHARIB~DANESH 9 
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VI. SENTENCING DETE:RMJNATIO.I'{ 

A. St11t11tnry A:utftorilt• 

3 The defendant understands that the Courl must consult the Federal Sentencing Guidelines and 

4 must take them into accou1it when determining a final sentence. Tile defendant understands that the 

5 Court will determine a non·binding and advisory guideline. sentencing range for this ease pursuant to the 

6 Sentencing Guidelines and must'take them into account when determining a :final sente1iclh The 

7 defendant furth1,1r understands that tbe Court wiJl consider whether there is a bail ls for d~parture from the 

8 gµioel.ine sentencing rang~ (either above or below the gµideline sentencing range) because there exists 

9 ail aggravating or mitigating ci~cnrl!St!!t1ce .of I! kind, or to a degree, not adequately takett into 

1 O cqnsiqeratlon by the Sentencing Conunissiqn fa formlJlating the Guidelines. The defendant further 

1l unders\'llllds tlu\t the Court, after consultation l\ncl CQnsider!ltlon ofthli Sentencing Guldelities, must 

12 imp()se. 4sentence that is re11sonable in llght gf the factors se!f9rth in HI u.s.c, § 3553(iiJ. 

1.3 B. Estimated Guld!lli!!!l Calcu.latign, 

14 Thegov¢rnment and clefeo\lantQHAA$·PANESH agree that there is no material dispute as to 

I 5 the fQllowing sentencing guidelines vari!'lbles and therefore stipulate to the following: 

.16 1. Base Offense Level: .6 [U.S.S.G. § 2BL1(ll)(2)] 

17 2. Acceptance of Respi:msl bi!ity: · See P<lfl!graph III.Bc2 above 

1 $ 3. Departure~ qr Oth()r Enhancement$ or Reduction~: 

19 The p,attles agree. that they will not seek Qr11rgue in snpport.of eyny qther specific \>ffen&e 

20 cbJu·l\ct.eristies, Chapter Thrill! a«IJUlltments.{\>ther thmi the deorea$e fgr "Acceptance of Responsibility"), 

Zl or cro.s.s~roferences, except thatthe go:vernmel!t m~y mo:vefor. a, departure or an 11d]u$tment b11s~ on the 

22 defendant's eooperatipn (§:SKI :1) qr post-plea t1bstruvtion 9fjustice(§ 3Cl. l). Both parties !)gree not 

23 to move for, or ai·gue in support qf, any departure from the Sentem;;ing Qµldelines, or any deviance or· 

24 variance from the Sentencing Guidelines under United States. v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 125 S,Ct. 738 

25 (20!l5)to alevel that i~ less.than the nanies' agreeinent on Estimated (ltiiqelinll Calculations. 

26 DefendantGHAR!B•OANESH also agreesthatthe application ofthe United StatesSerttenelng 

27 Guidelines to her case rel!Ults ina reasonable sentence and thatthede.fut\dant will not request thatthe 

28 Com't apply the sentencii1g factors underl8 U.S.C. § 3553 to arrive ala different sentence than that 

PL.EAAOREEMENT-OHARJB-DANESH 10 
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1 called for under the Sentencing Guidelines' advisory guideline range as deterrnined by the Court to a 

2 level that is less than the patties' agreement on Estimated Guidellne. Calculations. The defendant 

3 acknowledges that if the defendant reque.sts or suggests. hi any manner a different sentence than what is 

4 called for under the advisory guideline rang~ as determined by the Coul'l:, that will be tonsidcred a 

S violation of tile plea agreement The government's remedies and remaining obligations in tl'lis 

6 agreement shall be as outlined ln paragraph ILE, above .• 

7 VII. W &IYl!IR§ 
8 A. )£ajver of Constltuti9md Rlghn •. 

9 The d~fendartt understands that by pleading guilty she is waiving.the following oohstitutlon:al 

10 rights: (!I) to pleadnot guilty and to persist in that ple;t ifalteady made; (bJto be. tried by a jury;{c} to 

II be assisted at trial by an attorney, who would be appointed if neeessaey; ( d} t(l subpoena witnesses to 

12 testify on her behalf; {e) to oonfront and cross-examine wl:tnesses !ll?;ainst her; and (f) noHo be 

13 c()mpelledt() Incriminate hl:lrsi:lf. 

14 B. Wliver .ofAppeal 11nd Collater.d Attack.· 

15 The defendant understands that the law gives a defondant a rigbt w appeal i!s guilty plea, 

16 conviction, and sentence. The, defendant agrees as part of her p.lea, however, to give \JP the tight to 

17 appeal thl'I guilty plea,. conviction, mid the s!lntence imposed in this case as Jong as the $ente11ee does not 

18 ex:ceedthl'! ~nitpry mi\Tdm\lrtl forth11 offense ~o which she .is pleading gu.[lty. 

19 Notwithstanding the defend/i!llt;.sw(!;iver qf app0<1l, !he defendant will retain tile right tp appeal if 

20 one of the t(Jllowing circummnce& occurs: (!) tlw sentence, imposed by the District Cpu.rt exce<)ds the 

21 $.tlltlttory max:imum;and/or (2). the government appe<ils the sent<mce in tjie c!jse. The defend!lrit 

22 understl)llds that these eirc1;1m.stanccs O®Ur infrequently !!ll.d that in alrnost all cases this Agreement 

23 constit11te$ a cpmplete waive1· ofall appellate. rights. 

24 In addition, regardl<,;Ss ofthe ~entenc.t< thedeft<ndant i·~reives, the defendant also g,ives L!P any 

25 right to bring a e,ollati;:ral att!lck, including ll rt10tlon undet2J!U$.C. § 2255 or§ 2241, challenging any 

26 aspect of the guilty plea, conviction, or sentence, except for non-waivable claims. 

27 Notwithstandingthe government'sagree!nentli'ih paragraph ULA above, ifthe defendant ever 

28 attempts to vacate hefplea, dismiss the underlyhig charge!!, or modify or set aside its sentence 011.any of 

PLEA AGREEMENT- GHARIB-DANESH 11 
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1 the counts to which she i.s pleading guilty, the government shall have the rights set forth in SectlM ILE 

2 herein. 

c. W!!iver ofAfiprneys' Fees and Cosf§. 

4 The defendant agrees to waive all rights under the "HydeAmeru:ltnent," Section 617, P .L. 105· 

S 119 (Nov. 26, 1997), to recoverattotn:eyi!' f¢es or other litigation expenses in connection with the 

'Ii investigation and prosecutiQn of all charges in the aboVe•eaptiuned matter and of any related allegations 

7 (inclucllng w!th()ill lirnitaHon liny ehargesto b~ dismissecl pursuant to this plea agreement and ilny 

R charges previoqsly dismissed). 

I). Impact gf Pl1m on Defendant's Immjgr@tl!!nStatus. 

10 1'he defendant rec.Qgnize \hat p)emJJng gl!iltY may have consequences wi~h.respect to her 

l .l immigration status ifs.he- is. not a citizen of the United States. Under fed~l law, a ~r()ad range of eri111es 

12 a.re removable offe11ses, including the Q'ftenscto which the deijlndant ls pleading gliilty. 

13 Removal and other immigratf()tl con$equl!nC(ls are the 1>ubjeet ofa separa,te procee<ling, however,. and 

14 defendant understands. that no one, including her attorn\lY or the disttictc0urt, can prl'>dfot fo a certainty 

I$ the effect of her conviction on her immigration status, Defendant nevertheless affirms that she wants to 

16 plead guilty regardless of l!ny immigration consequence& that her plea may entail, even if the 

17 -consequence is her removal fromthe United Stales .• 

1ll VIII. ENTIRE PLEA AGUEMEN'{ 

19 Other th11n this ple11 agreement, .ng &greem1:n.t, understanding, Pl1?ll1ise, or eondition bet.ween tl;e 

20 government and the def1rodant e1>ists, nor will sui;h agreement, unqerstanding, prom l,se, or co11dltfon 

21 exist unless i.t is committed to writing and sign<:Q by the d<ifendant, -counsel for the d,~fend~nt,and 

22 -001msel fol' the United Smtes. 

23 Ill 

24 Ill 

25 Ill 

26 Ill 

27 Ill 

28' Ill 
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APPROVALS t\NQSIGNATURES 

.A. 

3 I have rend this plea ngreenient<!nd have <liscnssed ii !\lily wlt:Q my clients. The plea agi'eemeut 

4 nccnrately and C()mpletely sels.ftlrth the entirety of t11e agreement I oonc11r in 

S plead guilty as set forth iii !llfu plea agreernent 

i5 Pat<:d: '"" 'l.; fd.- t $i1' 
7 

8 

9 

IQ 

11 

f2 

IJ 

Dated: ~· ;~ • \ ~ 

n. })el'eudsllt: 

I 4 I I1nve tead thiii plea agrcementimd 001•e1'nlly reviewed every part nflt with my attomey. l 

·15 undo~tnnd it, nml I volmitnrily agree tn it, Fl!l'.tli,ei', lhavo i!tl!Wlllted with 111y atlomcy 11nd !lilly 

Hi uudem1ai1d mY rlghtll with respect In the provisiOlla ct'the Sentenoing Quidoli11es toot may flJ>plyto blji 

11 ense. No other promises or lnducemonls Iiavob.0011 made to nw, other tlnl!\Jllose Mlltni!led 111 tl1is plea 

!ll agre.e111ent. l.n "ddltioll, ;to <11lll: b~s threatened oHoreed me in nuy wnylo enter i!. ltG'tht1i"@l11 ugrei:mel\!, 

19 Fliial!y,. I am sotlsfied \Viti! tile !'!lJll'eS!>IJtatfom of my ~ttq11wyi11 this t;. ..• 

20 

21 Dated: 

23 

24 

2$ 

26 

21 

28' 

/Ill 

/Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

ABAR OHARill·DANESH 
Defeiid&tit' 
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C. Att(!iptiy for UJ1 itlld StaWi.t 

2 I accept and agree.to this plea ag1eeme11t on behalf of the government. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8: 

9 

. IO 

JI 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

!7 

ill 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated: MCGREGORW. SCOTT 
United States Attorney 

MARK}. c·· ON 
A~!>1Stant nited States ,Attorney 
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APPENDIX «A" 

Factual Basls for Plea 

Health Care Fraud was committed by N.E,. She was a chirQpracto.r, 
practicingln Bakersfield. 

N ,E. improperly submitted claims for payment for medical-legal repo. its 
written by her, ML 102 and ML l o:J, urtder circumstances.when her 
writing a medi.cal·legaJ report and her billing for it were not authorized by 
Califorl'\ia law. The folloy;in& of proper procedures fo~ writing and .b!lling 
for medtClll-leg!ll report~ ma particular case was material to the <lec.1mons 
of the insl!re:rs on whetheno pay the claims. 

Jn furth1;rance of the sc!teme todeftaud, N,E. submitte<l claims· in the 
approximate aggtegate. amqunt qf $5,686 .79 in connection wlth :PU bile 
plan$ or eontral:it& !\ffecting commer¢e :under which medi<.lal benefits,. Items 
qr servle1:s were provided to at1y benefi.ciaty, .as set' furth ln App.endix "B" 
befow. 

N.E. acted at all times willfully and with the intent totlefraud. 

Defen<lant Gl;lARIB-DANESH aided, counseled, ccmmarided, induced or 
procured 'N.E. with respectt\l at least one element of health care fraud, fhat 
is GHAR:ll:J-DANESH dir~ted he.r staffto forward to a third-party billing 
agency the .superbills provi<ledby N.E. for the purp6se ofpteparfng CME 
ISQO forms for N.E. Defendant GHA!UB·DANESH acted befote the 
crime was completed, tl'\at is, !)efore the claims were submitted. Defen<lant. 
GHARIB·DANESHwas aW!ll'e ofa high probability that claims submitted 
by her for N .E, were false and she deliberately ·avqided learn tng au<l/or 
recklesslydisregarded:the truth thatthebills fraudulently claiined payment 
for medical"legal reports, using codes ML lO? and ML TQ3, 

PLE.A AGREEMENT-OHAR!B-DANESH 
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APPENDIX "B" 

lnsuranee.Compauy 
State Compensatll;m Insurance Fund 
Zenith insurance Co1npany 
Employers Compensation Insurance Cempany 

PLEA AGREEMBNT - GHARIB·DANBSH 

AggregatJJ 
Claims Amuunt 

$2,806.34 
$.2,068.49 
$ 81 L96 

Total $ 5,6S6.$9 
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Pending Connts 

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT 
HEALTH CARE FRAUD 
(1) 

HEALTH CARE FRAUD 
(2-16) 

Aiding and Abetting Health Care Fraud 
(2s) 

Highest Offense Level (Opening) 

Felony 

Terminated Counts 

None 

Highest Offense Level (Terminated) 

None 

Complaints 

None 

Plaintiff 

USA 

( 626) 796-7 400 
Fax: (626) 796-7789 
Email: wfleming@rmosslaw.com 
AITORNEY TO BE NOTICED 

Disposition 

DISMISSED 

DISMISSED 

PROBATION: 36 Months. Special 
Assessment $100. Fine $5,000. 

Disposition 

Disposition 

represented by Mark Joseph McKeon 
United States Attorney's Office 
2500 Tulare Street 
Suite 4401 
Fresno, CA 93721 
559-497-4048 
Fax: 559-497-4099 
Email: mark.mckeon@usdoj.gov 
LEAD AITORNEY 
AITORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Assistant US Attorney 

Patrick R Delahuuty, GOVT 
United States Attorney's Office 
2500 Tulare Street, Suite 4000 
Fresno, CA 93 721 
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Date Filed # 

07/02/2015 l 

07/02/2015 2-

07/09/2015 .(! 

07/09/2015 1 

07/13/2015 . 11 

07/13/2015 12 

07/13/2015 li 

07/15/2015 22 

07/15/2015 23 

Docket Text 

559-497-4047 
Fax: 559-497-4099 
Email: patrick.delahunty@usdoj.gov 
LEAD AITORNEY 
AITORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Assistant US Attorney 

Fresno Forfeiture Unit 
United States Attorney's Office 
2500 Tulare Street 
Suite 4401 
Fresno, CA 93 721 
559-497-4000 
Email: usacae.ecffrsfor@usdoj.gov 
AITORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
Designation: Assistant US Attorney 

INDICTMENT as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh (I) count(s) I, 2-16, Na Young Eoh 
(2) count(s) I, 2-16, John Thomas Terrence (3) count(s) I, 2-16. (Attachments: 
# l T. Bill) (Lundstrom, T) (Entered: 07/02/2015) 

ORDER to SEAL CASE signed by Magistrate Judge Sheila K. Oberto on 
7/2/2015 as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh, John Thomas Terrence. 
CASE SEALED. (Lundstrom, T) (Entered: 07/02/2015) 

MOTION and Order to UNSEAL Indictment, by USA as to Bahar Gharib-
Danesh, Na Young Eoh, John Thomas Terrence. (Hellings, J) (Entered: 
07109120 l 5) 

ORDER to UNSEAL Indictment, signed by Magistrate Judge Gary S. Austin 
on 7/9/15 as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh, John Thomas Terrence. 
(Hellings, J) (Entered: 07/09/2015) 

NOTICE of ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Richard Alan Moss appearing for 
Bahar Gharib-Danesh. Attorney Moss, Richard Alan added. (Moss, Richard) 
(Entered: 07/13/2015) 

-
NOTI~E of ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: William Charles Fleming, Jr 
appearing for Bahar Gharib-Danesh. Attorney Fleming, William Charles 
added. (Fleming, William) (Entered: 07/13/2015) 

NOTICE of ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Jerry B. Marshak appearing for 
Bahar Gharib-Danesh. Attorney Marshak, Jerry B. added. (Marshak, Jerry) 
(Entered: 07/13/2015) 

TRANSFER DOCUMENTS RECEIVED from Central District of California re 
Rule 5(c)(3) as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh. # l Unredacted Affidavit of Surety) 
(Robles, S). (Entered: 07/15/2015) 
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STIPULATION and PROPOSED ORDER for Continue Initial Appearance In 
This District of Defendant Bahar Gharib-Danesh by USA. (McKeon, Mark) 
(Entered: 07/15/2015) 

07/16/2015 24 STIPULATION REGARDING Excludable Time Periods Under Speedy Trial 
Act; FINDINGS and ORDER as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh (!),Signed by 
Magistrate Judge Sheila K. Oberto on 7/16/2015. The Status Conference 
previously set for 7/24/2015 is CONTINUED to 8/17/2015 at 01 :00 PM in 
Courtroom 7 before Magistrate Judge Sheila K. Oberto. Time is excluded 
under the Speedy Trial Act for the reasons set forth on the record. The Court 
finds that good cause exists and that the ends of justice outweigh the interest of 
the public and the defendant in a speedy trial. XT Start: 7/24/2015, Stop: 
8/17/2015. (Arellano, S.) (Entered: 07/16/2015) 

08/17/2015 30 MINUTES (Text Only) for proceedings before Magistrate Judge Sheila K. 
Oberto: ARRAIGNMENT AND PLEA re Indictment as to Bahar Gharib-
Danesh (I), Count 1,2-16, held on 8/17/2015. Defendant advised of 
charges/rights; waived reading/advisement; NOT GUILTY PLEA ENTERED. 
Discovery (initial discovery received)/reciprocal discovery requested - so 
ordered. FIRST STATUS CONFERENCE held on 8/17/2015 as to Bahar 
Gharib-Danesh (I). The government advised the Comi that the bulk of the 
discovery has been provided, with supplemental to be forthcoming, with a disk 
with an Excel index. SECOND STATUS CONFERENCE set set for 
11130/2015 at 01:00 PM in Courtroom 3 before Magistrate Judge Sheila K. 
Oberto. (Excludable time XT Start: 8/17/2015 Stop: 11/30/2015) Time is to be 
excluded under the Speedy Trial Act in that good cause exists and that the ends 
of justice outweigh the interest of the public and the defendant in a speedy trial. 
For the reasons set forth on the record, the continuance requested is granted for 
good cause and the Court finds the ends of justice outweigh the interest of the 
public and the defendant in a speedy trial. Government Counsel: Mark 
McKeon present. Defense Counsel: Richard Moss and Jerry Marshak on behalf 
of Bahar Gharib-Danesh present. Custody Status: O/R (defendant present). 
Court Reporter/CD Number: Karen Hooven. (Rooney, M) (Entered: 
08/24/2015) 

09/01/2015 32 NOTICE of ATTORNEY APPEARANCE: Leodis Clyde Matthews on behalf 
of John Thomas Terrence. Attorney Matthews, Leodis Clyde added. 
(Matthews, Leodis) (Entered: 09/01/2015) 

- -
11/17/2015 .:n STIPULATION and PROPOSED ORDER for Continuance of Second Status 

Conference and Regarding Excludable Time Periods by Bahar Gharib-Danesh. 
(Moss, Richard) (Entered: 11117/2015) 

11/18/2015 34 STIPULATION and ORDER as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh and 
John Thomas Terrence to CONTINUE SECOND STATUS CONFERENCE. 
The Status Conference currently set for 11/30/2015, is CONTINUED to 
2/16/2016, at 01:00 PM in Courtroom 3 before Magistrate Judge Sheila K. 
Oberto. Time shall be excluded. Order signed by Magistrate Judge Sheila K. 
Oberto on 11/17/2015. (Timken, A) (Entered: 11/18/2015) 

02/11/2016 36 

https://ecf.caed. uscourts.gov /cgi-bin/DktRpt.pl? I 052414 77062309-L _I_ 0-1 10/2/2018 
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STIPULATION and PROPOSED ORDER for Continuance of Second Status 
Conference & Re Excludable Time Periods by Bahar Gharib-Danesh. (Moss, 
Richard) (Entered: 02/11/2016) 

02/12/2016 37 STIPULATION and ORDER to CONTINUE Second Status Conference as to 
Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh AND John Thomas Terrence. The Status 
Conference currently set for 2/16/2016, is CONTINUED to 4/4/2016, at 01:00 
PM in Courtroom 3 before Magistrate Judge Sheila K. Oberto. Time shall 
be excluded. Order signed by Magistrate Judge Sheila K. Oberto on 2/12/2016. 
(Timken, A) (Entered: 02/12/2016) 

03/29/2016 38 W AIYER of PERSONAL APPEARANCE by Bahar Gharib-Danesh. 
(Marshak, Jerry) (Entered: 03/29/2016) 

03/31/2016 41 ORDER on Waiver of.Defendant's Presence. Defendant Bahar Gharib-
Danesh's appearance is hereby waived for all proceedings permitted under Rule 
43 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. Order signed by Magistrate 
Judge Sheila K. Oberto on 3/31/2016. (Timken, A) (Entered: 03/31/2016) 

04/04/2016 44 MINUTES (Text Only) for proceedings before Magistrate Judge Barbara A. 
McAuliffe on 4/4/2016: 2nd STATUS CONFERENCE as to Bahar Gharib-
Danesh (1 ), Na Young Eoh (2), John Thomas Terrence (3) - held. Atty 
Bateman - over 80,000 pages of discovery, still reviewing; won't be able to set 
any trial date soon. Govt - in plea negotiations, Complex case, voluminous 
discovery. ALL parties request another status conference and waived 
excludable time- So Ordered, 18 USC 3161. 3rd STATUS CONFERENCE 
& Set a Trial Date is set for 8/15/2016 at 01 :00 PM in Courtroom 7 (SKO) 
before Magistrate Judge Sheila K. Oberto. Atty Bacon notes that Atty Moss 
did not give him any dates in August to continue a status conference too. 
Excludable started as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh, John Thomas 
Terrence: XT Start: 4/4/2016 Stop: 8/15/2016. Time is to be excluded under 
the Speedy Trial Act in that good cause exists and that the ends of justice 
outweigh the interest of the public and the defendant in a speedy trial. For the 
reasons set forth on the record, the continuance requested is granted for good 
cause and the Court finds the ends of justice outweigh the interest of the public 
and the defendant in a speedy trial. Government Counsel: Mark McKeon -
present. Defense Counsel: Dan Bacon for Richard Moss re Dft I; Janet 
Bateman re Dft 2 and Leodis Matthews re Dft 3 - present. Custody Status: ALL 
0/R - No appearance, each has a RL 43 waiver. Court Reporter/CD Number: 
ECRO - Esther Valdez. (Herman, H) (Entered: 04/05/2016) 

08/11/2016 45 MINUTE ORDER: ***TEXT ENTRY ONLY*** Counsel are directed to 
meet and confer and select a mutually convenient date for trial to be discussed 
at the hearing set for August 15, 2016. Minute order signed by Magistrate 
Judge Sheila K. Oberto on 8/11/2016. (Timken, A) (Entered: 08/11/2016) 

08/15/2016 46 MINUTES (Text Only) for proceedings before Magistrate Judge Sheila K. 
Oberto: STATUS CONFERENCE as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh 
and John Thomas Terrence held on 8/ 15/2016. Attorney Marshak stated he is 
still reviewing discovery and discussing settlement. The parties agree to a trial 
in the summer of 2017 and anticipate the trial to go 3 weeks. Jury Trial set for 
8/15/2017, at 08:30 AM in Courtroom 4 (LJO) before Chief Judge . . 
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Lawrence J. O'Neill. The Court sets a further Status Conference on 
11/7/2016, at 01:00 PM in Conrtroom 3 before Magistrate Judge Sheila K. 
Oberto. If the parties no longer feel the status conference is necessary, they 
may stipulate to vacate. Time is excluded under the Speedy Trial Act for the 
reasons set forth on the record. The Court finds that good cause exists and that 
the ends of justice outweigh the interest of the public and the defendant in a 
speedy trial. XT Start: 8/15/2016 Stop: 8/15/2017. Government Counsel: M. 
McKeon present. Defense Counsel: R. Moss and J. Marshak for defendant 
Gharib-Danesh; J. Bateman for defendant Eoh; L. Matthews for defendant 
Terrence present. Custody Status: 0/R - defendant Gharib-Danesh 
(PRESENT); defendants Eoh and Terrence - Not Present (WAIVERS). Court 
Reporter/CD Number: ECRO I 0. Rosales. (Timken, A) (Entered: 08/16/2016) 

11/02/2016 47 STIPULATION and PROPOSED ORDER for Vacating the Status Conference 
by Na Young Eoh. (Price, Jerome) (Entered: 11/02/2016) 

11/04/2016 48 STIPULATION and ORDER to VACATE STATUS CONFERENCE as to 
Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh and John Thomas Terrence. Pursuant to 
the parties' Stipulation, the November 7, 2016, status conference is hereby 
vacated. Order signed by Magistrate Judge Sheila K. Oberto on 11/4/2016. 
(Timken, A) (Entered: 11/04/2016) 

01/30/2017 49 ASSOCIATION of ATTORNEY in the case of Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na 
Young Eoh, John Thomas Terrence. Attorney Daniel Alex Bacon for Bahar 
Gharib-Danesh added. (Bacon, Daniel) (Entered: 01/30/2017) 

06/29/2017 ~ PRETRIAL ORDER signed by Chief Judge Lawrence J. O'Neill on June 28, 
2017 as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh, John Thomas Terrence. 
(Munoz, I) (Entered: 06/29/2017) 

07/07/2017 52 STIPULATION and PROPOSED ORDER for Continuance of Trial Date by 
Bahar Gharib-Danesh. (Moss, Richard) (Entered: 07 /07/2017) 

07/07/2017 53 STIPULATION and ORDER as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh, Na Young Eoh, John 
Thomas Terrence signed by Chief Judge Lawrence J. O'Neill on July 7, 2017. 
Jury Trial currently set for 8/15/2017 has been CONTINUED to 8/14/2018 at 
08:30 AM in Courtroom 4 (LJO) before Chief Judge Lawrence J. O'Neill. 
(Munoz, I) (Entered: 07 /07/2017) 

04/27/2018 54 ARREST WARRANT RETURNED Executed on 7/9/2015 as to Bahar Gharib-
Danesh. (Hellings, J) (Entered: 04/27/2018) 

--
06/29/2018 61 MINUTE ORDER (TEXT ENTRY ONLY) Change of Plea Hearing as to 

defendant BAHAR GHARIB-DANESH set for 7/9/2018 at 11 :00 AM in 
Courtroom 4 (LJO) before Chief Judge Lawrence J. O'Neill signed by Chief 
Judge Lawrence J. O'Neill on June 29, 2018. (Munoz, I) (Entered: 06/29/2018) 

07/05/2018 62 PLEA AGREEMENT as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh. (McKeon, Mark) (Entered: 
0710512018) 

07/05/2018 63 SUPERSEDING INFORMATION (Felony) as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh (!) 
count(s) 2s, Pain Free Diagnostics, Inc. (4) count(s) I. (Marrujo, C) (Entered: 
0710612018) 
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07/09/2018 65 MINUTES (Text Only) for proceedings before Chief Judge Lawrence J. 
O'Neill: CHANGE of PLEA HEARING as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh held on 
71912018. Arraignment on the Superseding Information: True name, waive 
reading. Waiver of Indictment filed forthwith. Bahar Gharib-Danesh (1) 
entered GUILTY PLEA on Count 2 of the Superseding Information. 
Sentencing set for 10/1/2018at11:00 AM in Courtroom 4 (LJO) before Chief 
Judge Lawrence J. O'Neill. Jury Trial currently set for 8/14/2018 is VACATED 
as to defendant Bahar Gharib-Danesh ONLY. Government Counsel: Mark 
McKeon present. Defense Counsel: Daniel Bacon, Richard Moss present. 
Custody Status: BOND. Court Reporter/CD Number: Peggy Crawford. 
(Munoz, I) (Entered: 0711012018) 

07/10/2018 67 ORDER on Waiver of Indictment as to Bahar Gharib-Danesh, signed by Chief 
Judge Lawrence J. O'Neill on 6/28/2018. (Hellings, J) (Entered: 07/10/2018) 

08/20/2018 79 (JO BE VIEWED BY ASSIGNED COUNSEL ONLY) DISCLOSED 
PRESENTENCE INVESTIGATION REPORT (DRAFT) as to Bahar Gharib-
Danesh. Informal objections shall not be submitted via CM/ECF and shall be in 
compliance with the sentencing schedule and pursuant to Local Rule 460. 
(Attachments:# l Character Reference Letters)(Una'Dia, T) (Entered: 
08/20/2018) 

09/04/2018 82 (TO BE VIEWED BY ASSIGNED COUNSEL ONLY) DISCLOSED 
PRESENTENCE INVESTIGATION REPORT (REVISED DRAFT) as to 
Bahar Gharib-Danesh. Informal objections shall not be submitted via CM/ECF 
and shall be in compliance with the sentencing schedule and pursuant to Local 
Rule 460. (Una'Dia, T) (Entered: 09/04/2018) 

09/10/20I 8 86 SENTENCING PRESENTENCE INVESTIGATION REPORT (FINAL) as to 
Bahar Gharib-Danesh. (Attachments: # l Response, #;;; Objection Letter, # l 
Character Reference Letters)(Una'Dia, T) (Entered: 09/10/2018) 

-
09/13/2018 90 ORDER on Joint 88 Motion for the Deposit of Funds into the Court's Registry ; 

Defendant Pain Free Management shall PAY, prior to its scheduled appearance 
for sentencing, $1,200,000.00 to the Clerk, United States District Court, via a 
cashiers check or money order, signed by Chief Judge Lawrence J. O'Neill on 

,____ 9/13/18. (Martin-Gill, S) (Entered: 09/13/2018) 

09/27/2018 RECEIPT number #CAEI 00040366 $1,200,000.00 fbo Pain Free Diagnostics 
Inc by Pain Free Management on 9/27/2018. (Lundstrom, T) (Entered: 
0912712018) 

'---

10/01/2018 101 MINUTES (Text Only) for proceedings before Chief Judge Lawrence J. 
O'Neill: SENTENCING held on 10/1/2018 for Bahar Gharib-Danesh (1) Count 
2 Superseding Information PROBATION: 36 Months with conditions. 
Mandatory drug testing suspended. Special Assessment $100. Fine $5,000. 
USA Motion to Dismiss Indictment-GRANTED. Appeal Rights waived. The 
Court will GRANT the defendant's request of probation as ordered the change 
to one year instead of three years, but it will remain three years until fine is 
paid in full. DEFENDANT TERMINATED. Government Counsel: Mark 
McKeon present. Defense Counsel: Daniel Bacon, Richard Moss present. 
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I 
I 
I 

Custody Status: BOND. Court Reporter/CD Number: Tammi Sumpter. 
(Munoz, I) (Entered: 10/02/2018) 

PACER Service Center I 
Transaction Receipt I 

10/02/2018 20:29:11 I 
PACER 
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